
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 
CYNTHIA ORTIZ, ) 

) 
Plaintiff, ) 

) 
vs.    ) Case No. 17-CV-489-JHP-JFJ 

) 
CHARLES PERRY, MATTHEW ) 
POWELL, JOSH BURSON, and ) 
DAVE ROBERSON, ) 
  ) 

Defendants. ) 
 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

 Before the undersigned is Plaintiff’s pro se Complaint, which is entitled “Plaintiff’s 

Original Complaint and Motion to Seek Injunctive Relief for False Imprisonment, Obstruction of 

Justice, Tortious Interference, Stalking and Harassment, Slander, Defamation, and Libel, 

Malicious Prosecution, Providing False and Misleading Information to Law Enforcement, and to 

Seek a Restraining Order Against Defendants” (“Complaint”) (ECF No. 1).  The Complaint 

includes a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for Preliminary Injunction 

(“Motion for TRO/PI”) (ECF No. 3).  Plaintiff also filed a motion for leave to proceed in forma 

pauperis (“Motion to Proceed IFP”) (ECF No. 2) and a motion requesting that hearing notices be 

provided to Plaintiff by both email and mail (“Motion to Receive Electronic Notice”) (ECF No. 

5). 

United States District Judge James Payne referred the Motion to Proceed IFP, Motion to 

Receive Electronic Notice, and Motion for TRO/PI to the undersigned.  The undersigned construes 

the referral as one made pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 72(b) (“Rule 72(b)”) and 

issues the following Report and Recommendation.   
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I. Factual Allegations 

 In her pro se Complaint, Plaintiff Cynthia Ortiz alleges the following facts.  Prior to 2015, 

Plaintiff lived and worked in Texas and became acquainted with Defendant Charles Perry 

(“Perry”), a Texas state senator from Lubbock, Texas.  Plaintiff alleges that Perry began stalking 

and harassing her.  Sometime prior to May 19, 2015, Plaintiff moved to Oklahoma, where she 

continues to reside. 

 On May 19, 2015, Plaintiff sought to obtain an Order of Protection against Perry in the 

District Court for Creek County, Oklahoma.  According to Plaintiff, the court denied her request 

“due to lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to comply with . . . [state law] which requires the 

filing of a police report.”  Compl. ¶ 1.1  On October 13, 2015, Plaintiff was approached at her 

work, a gentleman’s club known as Lady Godiva’s, by Defendant Dave Roberson (“Roberson”).  

Roberson introduced himself as Perry’s “proxy or representative” and as Perry’s “hit man.”  

Compl. ¶ 2.  Roberson threatened to physically harm Plaintiff unless she recanted her claims that 

Perry was stalking her.  From October 2015 to January 2016, Roberson threatened, in person and 

via text message, to “arrange a false arrest or kill her if she continued to refuse to recant her claims” 

regarding Perry stalking and harassing her.  Compl. ¶ 3.  During this time, Plaintiff began feeling 

ill and believed someone had poisoned her drinks at work.  She questioned Roberson via text 

whether he was poisoning her, and he allegedly replied yes.  Following an incident at the club on 

January 9, 2016, Roberson was asked to leave the club due in part to threatening behavior directed 

at Plaintiff. 

                                                 
1   The Complaint contains two sets of numbered paragraphs, numbers 1-8 on pages 3-5 and 
numbers 1-43 on pages 6-30.  The undersigned’s references to the Complaint are to the numbered 
paragraphs 1-43 beginning on page 6. 
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On January 12, 2016, Plaintiff filed a police report with the desk clerk of the Tulsa Police 

Department (“TPD Report”).  Although the Complaint does not allege the precise nature of the 

TPD Report, the Complaint indicates Plaintiff filed the police report to obtain a protective order 

against Perry and/or Roberson.  The desk clerk told Plaintiff that a detective would contact her for 

a statement. 

On January 29, 2016, Plaintiff was allegedly arrested at her home in Sapulpa, Oklahoma, 

and “subsequently extradited” to Lubbock, Texas on February 11, 2016.  Compl. ¶¶ 11, 29. 

Plaintiff’s theory of the events leading to her arrest include: (1) Perry caused the Lubbock County 

District Attorney, Defendant Matthew Powell (“Powell”) to charge her with a crime; (2) Powell 

charged Plaintiff with a crime under Texas law;2 and (3) Defendant Josh Burson, a Texas Ranger, 

traveled to Oklahoma, arrested Plaintiff for said crime, and transported her to the Lubbock 

Correctional Facility in Lubbock, Texas.  Plaintiff alleges she spent over two months in jail before 

making bond and returning home on April 5, 2016.  Plaintiff contends her bond conditions included 

an agreement that she refrain from notifying the media of her arrest in exchange for Perry 

refraining from having any further contact with her.  Upon her return to Oklahoma, Plaintiff 

retrieved a phone message from Tulsa Police Department Detective Liz Eagan (“Eagan”), which 

Eagan left on February 15, 2016. Eagan was following up on the TPD Report regarding Perry.  

According to the Complaint, the Texas charges “were not dropped until June 28, 2017.”  Compl. 

¶ 12. 

Plaintiff asserts that Defendants violated her Fourteenth Amendment due process and equal 

protection rights by arresting her, detaining her, and interfering with the TPD Report.  See, e.g., 

                                                 
2  Plaintiff does not allege the Texas crime with which she was charged, but it appears to be some 
form of retaliation against a legislator based on his exercise of official duties.  See Compl. ¶¶ 21-
22. 
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Compl. ¶ 15.  Plaintiff’s Complaint invokes 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (“§ 1983”) and pleads facts 

attempting to negate any qualified immunity defense.  Compl. ¶¶ 32-34.  Plaintiff also appears to 

assert that Defendants committed certain intentional torts.  In addition to seeking money damages, 

Plaintiff seeks injunctive remedies including a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, 

and permanent injunction.  Compl. ¶¶ 30-43.   

II. Motion to Proceed IFP 
 

A. 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2) Screening 

 In analyzing the Motion to Proceed IFP, the undersigned conducted an initial 28 U.S.C. § 

1915(e)(2) screening.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2); Stafford v. United States, 208 F.3d 1177, 1179 

n.4 (10th Cir. 2000) (describing § 1915(e)(2) as a “screening procedure” for dismissing IFP claims 

prior to service that are frivolous, that fail to state a claim, that seek monetary relief from immune 

defendants, or that rest on false allegations of poverty).3  The undersigned does not recommend 

sua sponte dismissal of Plaintiff’s claims for any of the reasons set forth in § 1915(e)(2)(A) or (B).  

The alleged constitutional violations, which are the thrust of the Complaint, allegedly occurred 

less than two years ago and appear to be within the potentially applicable statutes of limitation.  

See Meade v. Grubbs, 841 F.2d 1512, 1522 (10th Cir. 1998) (holding that § 1983 actions arising 

in Oklahoma are governed by Oklahoma’s two-year statute of limitations for personal injury suits); 

Humphreys v. City of Ganado, Tex., 467 F. App’x 252, 255 (5th Cir. 2012) (holding that § 1983 

claims for excessive force, assault and battery, unreasonable search and seizure, and false arrest 

are governed by two-year statute of limitations under Texas law).  Although Defendants may 

potentially assert various jurisdictional or immunity defenses, these defenses are not so clearly 

                                                 
3  Although § 1915(a) refers to a “prisoner” seeking IFP status, the Tenth Circuit has held that § 
1915(e)(2)’s screening procedures apply to all persons applying for IFP status and not just to 
prisoners.  See Salgado–Toribio v. Holder, 713 F.3d 1267, 1270 (10th Cir. 2013). 
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applicable as to warrant sua sponte dismissal prior to service.  See Netzke v. Williams, 490 U.S. 

319, 324 (1989) (explaining that “dismissals on these grounds are often made sua sponte prior to 

the issuance of process, so as to spare prospective defendants the inconvenience and expense” of 

answering a complaint that is frivolous, malicious, or clearly barred by immunity).4   

B. Financial Affidavit 

 The financial affidavit filed in support of the Motion to Proceed IFP indicates Plaintiff has 

been unemployed since April of 2017.  Even when she was employed, her monthly expenses 

exceeded her monthly income of $2,000.00.  Based upon these financial circumstances, and the 

Complaint’s survival of the §1915(e)(2) screening, the undersigned recommends granting the 

Motion to Proceed IFP.   

III. Motion to Receive Electronic Notice 

In this motion, Plaintiff states that she received a protected address from the Oklahoma 

Attorney General’s Office for her safety.  However, use of this address results in an approximate 

ten-day delay of her receipt of mail.  She therefore requests to receive electronic notification of all 

filings in this action at her email address: cyndi.ortiz@hotmail.com.  The undersigned 

recommends that this motion be granted and recommends directing the Court Clerk to serve notice 

of all filings in this action upon Plaintiff at the above-listed email address.5   

IV. Motion for TRO/PI 

In the section of Plaintiff’s Complaint requesting a “restraining order,” Plaintiff alleges: 

Due to the serious nature of the threats made by [Defendants Perry and Roberson], 
followed by the carrying out of these threats, and the continued threats to kill or 
arrange a second false arrest of the Plaintiff, the gross misconduct and the 

                                                 
4  This recommendation does preclude Defendants from filing motions to dismiss after receipt of 
the Complaint. 
 
5  Plaintiff does not request permission to file documents electronically.     
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malfeasance of all four Defendants and egregious violation of [Plaintiff’s] civil 
rights, [Plaintiff] is seeking to obtain an Emergency Restraining Order against all 
four Defendants. . . .  
. . . 
Therefore due to the nature of the threats and assault . . . [Plaintiff] requests and 
prays upon this Court to Order a Temporary Restraining Order against all four 
Defendants, with the hopes of ultimately granting a permanent Restraining Order 
against all four Defendants. 

 
Compl. ¶ 30-31.  Plaintiff seeks the same relief she has twice sought to obtain in state court – 

namely, a court order protecting Plaintiff from being stalked, harassed, or harmed by Defendants. 

 To obtain a temporary restraining order without notice to the opposing parties, the movant 

must (1) show through an affidavit or verified complaint “that immediate and irreparable injury, 

loss, or damage will result” unless the temporary restraining order is issued, and (2) certify in 

writing efforts made to give notice to adverse parties and the reasons why notice should not be 

required.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(1).  Plaintiff has failed to file an affidavit or verified complaint 

and failed to certify in writing her efforts to provide notice to Defendants.  The undersigned 

recommends that the Motion for TRO be denied without prejudice based on this procedural 

deficiency.   

The court may issue a preliminary injunction only on notice to the adverse party.  See Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 65(a).  Defendants have yet to be served with process, and the court may not enter any 

preliminary injunctive relief at this stage of the proceeding.  The undersigned recommends that the 

Motion for PI be denied without prejudice based on this procedural deficiency.  See Carrillo v. 

Castle, Stawiarki, LLC, No. 12-CV-00003-WJM-MEH, 2012 WL 12809, at *2 (D. Colo. Jan. 4, 

2012) (denying pro se plaintiff’s motion for preliminary injunction without prejudice where 

defendants lacked notice of the motion). 

The undersigned observes that Plaintiff appears to seek a federal injunctive remedy akin to 

a civil protective order issued pursuant to Oklahoma’s Protection from Domestic Abuse Act 
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(“PDAA”).  See generally Okla. Stat. tit. 22, §§ 60 - 60.20 (Oklahoma statutory scheme that, inter 

alia, permits victim of stalking or harassment to seek a civil protective order, directs the clerk to 

notify law enforcement of such order, and provides progressive penalties for violations).  Although 

there are federal criminal laws prohibiting interstate stalking and interstate violations of a state-

issued protective order, see 18 U.S.C. §§ 2261A, 2262, these laws do not provide civil remedies 

or set forth procedures for obtaining and/or enforcing a civil protective order against an alleged 

stalker or harasser.  Therefore, the injunctive relief requested is likely unavailable to Plaintiff as a 

preliminary or final remedy in this federal proceeding.  See Intermountain Elecs., Inc. v. 

CONSPEC Controls, Inc., No. 2:09-CV-20 CW, 2009 WL 2176978, at *2 (D. Utah July 22, 2009) 

(explaining that “an injunction is not appropriate when the relief sought may not be granted as a 

final remedy”).  Although the undersigned recommends denying the Motion for TRO/PI without 

prejudice based on procedural deficiencies, the undersigned cautions Plaintiff to consider this 

authority prior to re-filing any motion for injunctive relief pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 65.   

RECOMMENDATION 
 

The undersigned recommends that the Motion to Proceed IFP (ECF No. 2) be GRANTED.  

The undersigned recommends that the Motion to Receive Electronic Notice (ECF No. 5) be 

GRANTED, and that the Court Clerk be directed to transmit all filings in this action to Plaintiff’s 

email address at cyndi.ortiz@hotmail.com.  The undersigned recommends that the Motion for 

TRO/PI (ECF No. 3) be DENIED without prejudice. 

OBJECTIONS 
 

 In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 636(b) and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 72(b)(2), a 

party may file specific written objections to this report and recommendation.  Such specific written 
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objections must be filed with the Clerk of the District Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma 

by October 10, 2017. 

If specific written objections are timely filed, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 72(b)(3) 

directs the district judge to 

determine de novo any part of the magistrate judge’s disposition to which a party 
has properly objected.  The district judge may accept, reject, or modify the 
recommended disposition; receive further evidence; or return the matter to the 
magistrate judge with instructions.  
 

Id.; see also 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1).  The Tenth Circuit has adopted a “firm waiver rule,” which 

“provides that the failure to make timely objections to the magistrate’s findings or 

recommendations waives appellate review of both factual and legal questions.”  United States v. 

One Parcel of Real Property, 73 F.3d 1057, 1059 (10th Cir. 1996) (quoting Moore v. United States, 

950 F.2d 656, 659 (10th Cir. 1991)).  Only a timely specific objection will preserve an issue for 

de novo review by the district court or for appellate review. 

SUBMITTED this 26th day of September, 2017. 
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